RECEIVED

Jan 05 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAI'YUAN JA'REL JACKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000769

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

W. CHANDLER NORVILLE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred under Rule 403, SCRE, in admitting a photograph, taken several hours before the shooting, which depicted Appellant, Hickson, and four other individuals making various unsavory gestures?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to grant Appellant's renewed motion for directed verdict, after the jury returned a guilty verdict of voluntary manslaughter, when no evidence supports that verdict?

III.

Whether the trial court gave an ambiguous supplemental jury instruction in response to the jury's first question?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was arrested on April 24, 2022. On January 25, 2023, the Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 570-73. On April 7, 2025, the case was tried before the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson and a jury. R. 1. W. James Hoffmeyer represented Appellant. David Rigney represented co-defendant Jerelle Hickson (Hickson).¹ Nancy Livesay and Delbert Leasure prosecuted the case. R. 1. Appellant and Hickson were convicted of voluntary manslaughter; Appellant was also convicted of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 551. He was sentenced to thirty (30) years for voluntary manslaughter and five (5) years for the weapons charge, to run concurrently. R. 567.

This appeal follows.

¹ See *State v. Jerelle Hickson*, App. Case No. 2025-000749 (Ct. App.).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 24, 2022, at around 1:30 a.m., Dy'Quavyon Dickens was shot and killed in a parking lot in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. After an investigation, the state believed Appellant and Hickson to be responsible, and the two were arrested for murder.

Appellant was acquitted of murder but convicted of voluntary manslaughter and a gun charge.² There was no evidence that Appellant himself had killed the victim, which both the state and trial court acknowledged during Appellant's motion for directed verdict. R. 439. However, the state asserted that it could go forward on accomplice liability. R. 439. The evidence, in relevant part, presented during the trial was as follows.

Mya Goodman testified that she had been at the parking lot and heard gun shots, but she was not sure from which direction they came or who had fired them. R. 16. Shakira Hickson (Shakira) testified that she was at the parking lot with Appellant and Hickson, her cousins, the day of the shooting. R. 52. She arrived at the parking lot in Appellant's vehicle, a gold Tahoe, and Hickson was driving a black Tahoe. R. 50-51. During Shakira's testimony, the state published a photograph showing Appellant wearing green clothes over Appellant's objection. R. 63-69; 70; State's Exhibits 42 (Photo on back of #43) and 43 (Poster: Group of people photo) (on file with this Court).

Two of the individuals in the photograph—those marked as Hickson and "LiQuan," State's Exhibit 43—are seen making signs that could be interpreted as "gang signs."³ Hickson is holding a bottle of Hennessy, a liquor, and has a firearm in his pocket. *Id.* One of the individuals

² The state never attempted to suggest any sort of motive for these acts other than a suggestion that Appellant and Hickson just had "it" on their mind. *See, e.g.*, R. 473-74 (closing argument).

³ It is important to note, however, that the state made no allegation of gang affiliation.

is showing both middle fingers to the camera. *Id.* Three more of the individuals are simulating brandishing firearms at the camera. *Id.*

Appellant objected to the introduction of the photograph. R. 63. He argued that while the photograph showed him in a green outfit, it also showed he and several others making “profane gestures,” Hickson holding a bottle of liquor, and several of the kids making gun gestures with their hands. R. 64. The state responded that the photograph was “extremely probative” in two respects: (1) it showed Appellant and Hickson wearing the same clothes as they are wearing in the shooting video; and (2) “murder requires premeditation”⁴ and the video of these individuals making gun-like hand gestures was probative of premeditation. R. 66. Defense counsel responded that the state had plenty of other evidence to show that Appellant was wearing his green clothes without the state showing this photograph. R. 67. He also argued it was “quite a leap” to assert that because they were flashing signs hours prior to the shooting, that this photograph was probative of malice or premeditation. R. 67. The trial court ultimately ruled that the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect. R. 67.⁵

The state also published videos of Appellant’s Tahoe which depicted stickers on the back windshield and a video depicting Appellant and Hickson’s vehicles starting at 1:28 a.m. R. 77, 90; State’s 234 (Zoomed-in parking lot videos) (on file with this Court). The latter video showed a “flash” at 1:29 a.m., but Shakira denied being able to see it on the video. R. 93. The state published another video taken around thirty minutes after the shooting which purported to show Hickson wearing a face mask. R. 96. The state also published a video from the next day, where

⁴ Murder does not require premeditation. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (“Murder is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

⁵ The trial court did not explain its ruling beyond stating “I think the probative value outweighs the prejudicial effect.” R. 67.

Appellant's and Hickson's vehicles are seen without the rear-mirror stickers. R. 105. On cross-examination, Shakira testified that she had not heard anyone express "animosity toward anyone who was shot." R. 115.

The state also called Nikera McAlister, who testified that she was also present on the day of the shooting. R. 133. She witnessed Hickson shooting a firearm, but she did not see anyone else shooting a firearm. R. 139-40.

Detective Cole Kyer took a statement from Appellant and claimed Appellant told him that he fired a gun twice in the air. R. 158; 167. Officer Shylah Davis found clothing in Appellant's Tahoe during a search. R. 222. She also located several shell casings in the parking lot that would have been near Appellant's and Hickson's vehicles. R. 238-42.

Officer Brandon George found a Glock 17 handgun in the center console of Appellant's gold Tahoe. R. 277. He further testified that a magazine found in Hickson's Tahoe could have fit in that weapon. R. 278-79. James Green was qualified as an expert in forensic firearms examination. R. 343. He testified that twenty shell casings found in the parking lot were fired by the firearm located in Appellant's vehicle. R. 345. On cross-examination, he testified that he had conclusively determined that the bullet which killed the victim was not fired by Appellant's firearm and that shell casings fired from at least five other firearms had been located in the parking lot. R. 359-60.

The state's gunshot residue (GSR) expert testified that GSR was found on the clothes found in Appellant's vehicle. R. 377. The state then called Kimberly Shupp, who was qualified as an expert in video processing. R. 399. The state used her testimony to introduce security camera footage that Ms. Shupp had zoomed in on and digitally enhanced which purported to show the shooting. R. 404; State's Exhibit 234 (on file with this Court).

Appellant moved for a directed verdict. R. 437. He argued to the trial court that no witness saw Appellant fire a gun, the bullet that killed the victim had been conclusively proven to have not been fired by the gun found in Appellant's vehicle, and that the only evidence he had fired a gun at all was his own statement to police, wherein he admitted only to firing in the air twice. R. 437-38. Both the trial court and state acknowledged that there was no evidence that Appellant had killed the victim, but the state asserted that its case could proceed to the jury on a theory of accomplice liability. R. 439.

The trial court denied the motion. R. 440. It found that "the gunshot residue found on the clothes," and the "gun found in his vehicle that had been fired 18 times," as well as the enhanced video was sufficient evidence since the state was proceeding under an accomplice liability theory as to Appellant. R. 440.

During its closing argument, the state made several references to the photograph of Appellant, Hickson, and the other four boys, asserting it was indicative of "premeditation." R. 474. For instance, the solicitor told the jury:

Now, the question is whether or not there's premeditation and malice. Now, these two men are in Myrtle Beach for spring break. Both of them have handguns. When you see the pictures close up, you're going to be able to see that [Appellant] has a gun on him. You see the outline under the tank top. No doubt. And look what he's doing with his hand, doing that shooting thing, like he's shooting somebody with his hand. That's what's on his mind....And look at [Hickson]. He's standing there now—spring break. This is a time you're supposed to be hanging out with your friends, going to the beach. He's got a handgun in his pocket and a ski mask on in April in Myrtle Beach. A ski mask and a handgun...One of them is doing a shooting motion and the other one has got a ski mask on.

I promise you, if I go into the Food Lion and I see a guy with a gun in his pocket and a ski mask, I'm turning around. I'm turning around. Why? Why? Because that tells me that that's what's on his mind. He had bad intentions when it's April and you're wearing a

ski mask and you have got a gun in your pocket. You already have ill will, you already have premeditation, and you've already got intent. If I walk around and go in the Food Lion and I see another guy with a gun on him doing like he's shooting up the Food Lion, I'm not going in...Because I already know what's on his mind, I already know. It's spring break. Go to the beach. Go to the pool. They don't want to do that. That's not what's on their mind. This is what's on their mind. This is before they even get in the Tahoe and start riding around the strip...Ski mask, gun. The other guy has got a gun doing the shooting thing...I don't even see a gun on anybody else in the picture but the two of them at this point. So that's what's on their mind.

R. 473, l. 1 – 474, l. 25.

The trial court, over Appellant's objection, charged the jury on accomplice liability. R. 463-69; 533. The trial court's instruction on accomplice liability essentially tracked the standard language, and the language of the instruction itself was not the subject of any objection. *Compare* R. 533-26 with RALPH K. ANDERSON, JR., SOUTH CAROLINA REQUESTS TO CHARGE-CRIMINAL § 2-69 (3d ed. 2023).

After about ninety minutes of deliberation, the jury sent a note to the court with two questions. R. 545; 569 (Court's Exhibit 1). The second question was about an issue of fact, and the trial court correctly instructed them they must determine all issues of fact themselves. R. 545. The first question, however, stated "Is hand of one, hand of all law that has to be followed?" R. 545; R. 569 (Court's Exhibit 1).⁶ Originally, the trial court wanted to respond to this question with "yes." R. 545. However, Appellant asserted this was insufficient and asked the trial court to add the qualifier "if they find 'the hand of one, hand of all' is appropriate under the facts and evidence of the case." R. 545-46. In response, the trial court then suggested the following charge: "Yes, if the state proves it beyond a reasonable doubt." R. 546; ll. 2-3.

⁶ It appears from the note that the jury underlined the word "law," making the note read: "Is hand of one, hand of all a law that has to be followed." The significance of this is not clear.

The solicitor responded that “we probably just need to tell them...everything that was charged to you is the law and it has to be followed.” R. 546, ll. 8-10. The trial court then proposed: “all charges on the law by the Court have to be followed.” R. 546, ll. 15-16. Appellant again requested the trial court’s previous suggestion, “Yes, if the state proves it beyond a reasonable doubt.” R. 546, ll. 2-3. Hickson’s attorney then pointed out that the reason the jury asked this question must be because they did not understand it as written. R. 546-47. The trial court also expressed confusion, stating: “I don’t know what they’re saying. I don’t know whether they’re asking me to comment on the evidence presented by the state or whether they have the option to choose it or not choose it.” R. 547, ll. 3-6.

In response to this, Appellant requested that the trial court additionally recharge that “[the jury] is the judge of the facts and [the court] is the judge of the law.” R. 548, ll. 4-5. The trial court responded that it had already done so. R. 548, l. 8. Appellant told the trial court he was concerned that the jury was asking the trial court to comment on the facts or to comment on whether, in the court’s opinion, the state had proven the case beyond a reasonable doubt. R. 548. The trial court refused to charge Appellant’s suggested language because it was concerned that the jury would take that to mean “well, according to him, he thinks the state has proven it.” R. 548, ll. 16-25. Eventually, the trial court responded to the jury with “you must follow the law as it was charged to you by the court.” R. 549, ll. 8-9.

The jury convicted Appellant and Hickson of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 551-52. Appellant renewed his motion for directed verdict and moved for a new trial. R. 555-57. Both were denied. R. 556-57.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion for directed verdict, this Court "must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the state." *State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (quoting *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004)). This Court reviews the evidence using the same standard used by the trial court; if there is not "any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused," this Court must reverse. *See id.*

When reviewing an ambiguous jury instruction, this Court will reverse if there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the instruction in a way that violates the Constitution. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000). When reviewing whether a jury charge should have been given at all, this Court reviews the trial court for abuse of discretion. *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 270, 721 S.E.2d 413, 421-22 (2011). Abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's ruling "is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence." *Berberich v. State*, 392 S.C. 278, 285, 709 S.E.2d 607, 611 (2011) (internal citation omitted). "An erroneous jury instruction will not result in reversal unless it causes prejudice to the appealing party." *Id.*

This Court reviews a trial court's decisions regarding the admission of evidence for abuse of discretion. *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 608, 759 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2014).

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court abused its discretion in finding that State's Exhibits 42 and 43 were not substantially more prejudicial than probative.

“Relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE (cleaned up). Probative value is “the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of the case.” *Gray*, 408 S.C. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. “It is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues.” *Id.* Probative value must be determined in context, considering the issues at stake to the trial of an individual case. *Id.* (citing *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008)).

The probative value of a given piece of evidence will depend on the “scarcity or abundance of other evidence of the same point.” *State v. James*, 355 S.C. 25, 35, 583 S.E.2d 745, 750 (2003) (quoting *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 185 (1997)). The more evidence there is of a particular fact, the less probative additional pieces of evidence proving that fact become. *See id.*

Probative value must be weighed against the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE. “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” *State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *United States v. Bonds*, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir. 1993) (internal quotation marks omitted)). Like probative value, prejudice “should be evaluated in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of the case.” *Gray*, 408 S.C. at 617, 759 S.E.2d at 169. “Evidence is

unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one.” *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 547, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001). Unfair prejudice “speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” *Old Chief*, 519 U.S. at 180.

Here, the photograph is of very limited probative value. The state’s asserted probative value was a mere smokescreen for its attempt to introduce bad character or propensity evidence based on the photograph. To the extent that it is probative to identify the clothes that Appellant was wearing, that fact was already conclusively established by several other pieces of evidence. Shakira Hickson testified that Appellant and Hickson were present in the parking lot when the shooting occurred. R. 52. Appellant’s own statement was admitted, where Appellant told law enforcement that he was present and fired his gun twice in the air. R. 158; 167. Officer Shylah Davis testified that she found the green clothing in Appellant’s Tahoe during a search, and this green clothing matched clothing that Appellant was wearing in a Ring Doorbell camera taken briefly after the shooting. R. 222; State’s Exhibit 63. The handgun found in Appellant’s Tahoe was connected to twenty shell casings found in the parking lot. R. 277, 345. And the clothes found in Appellant’s Tahoe were found to contain gunshot residue. R. 399. It was conclusively proven that Appellant was at the scene of the shooting and was wearing the unique green clothes. In fact, Appellant made little or no effort to contest that fact during his defense. No further evidence could have proven that fact more conclusively than it already was. The “abundance” of evidence on that same point reduces the probative value of this photograph to near zero. *See James*, 355 S.C. at 35, 583 S.E.2d at 750.

To the extent that the photograph is meant to show “premeditation” or “malice,” it is likewise not probative. For one, premeditation is not an element of murder, so the photograph is of no probative value in that regard. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10. And to the extent that the solicitor meant to suggest that “premeditation” was probative as it relates to motive, a photograph taken hours before the fact containing four other individuals which the state does not allege are involved in the case is hardly suggestive of some pre-planned attack.

Relating to “malice,” the photograph provides no evidence of “hatred or ill-will,” “wrongful intent to injure another person,” or a “wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong.” *State v. Fennell*, 340 S.C. 266, 275 n. 2, 531 S.E.2d 512, 517 n. 2 (2000) (defining malice). It is a photograph of six teenagers posing for a picture. To be sure, they are posing in a manner inconsistent with what most people find acceptable, but their posing does nothing to prove that any of them plan to commit an intentional homicide.⁷

On the other hand, the photograph is enormously prejudicial. The photograph depicted, in total, six black teenagers. Two of the individuals in the photograph—those marked as Hickson and “LiQuan,” State’s Exhibit 43—are seen making signs that could be interpreted as “gang signs.”⁸ Hickson is holding a bottle of Hennessy, a liquor, and has a firearm in his pocket. *Id.* One of the individuals is showing both middle fingers to the camera. *Id.* Three more of the

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