RECEIVED

Nov 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court Of General Sessions
The Honorable Benjamin Culberson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000769

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TAI'YUAN JA'REL JACKSON,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court properly admitted State's Exhibits 42 and 43 because any unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value.

The trial court properly allowed the State to admit the photograph of Appellant because it showed Appellant and Hickson, mere hours before the incident, in the same clothing seen in video evidence and described by eyewitnesses. Additionally, any unfair prejudice is limited because the image poses minimal risk since Appellant admitted to owning and firing the weapon.

Relevant Facts

During Shakira's testimony, the State offered a photograph showing Appellant and Hickson wearing the same clothing as they were wearing on the night of the incident. (Tr. p. 149-155; State's Exhibit 43). Appellant objected noting potential unfair prejudice associated with the hand signals made by the group, the bottle of alcohol, and the firearm in Hickson's possession. (Tr. p. 150-151). The State argued it established Appellant's clothing and showed evidence of premeditation. (Tr. p. 152). Appellant argued that other evidence establishing Appellant's clothing was available. (Tr. p. 153). The court found that the probative value outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice. (Tr. p. 153).

Discussion

"All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina." Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it "make[s] more or less probable the matter in controversy." State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 476, 613 S.E.2d 381, 386 (Ct. App. 2005).

"Probative value is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case." United States v. Stout, 509 F.3d 796, 804 (6th Cir. 2007). It is the weight that a piece of

evidence will carry in helping the jury make a determination. “The more essential the evidence, the greater its probative value.” Id.

“All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.” State v. Bratschi, 413 S.C. 97, 115, 775 S.E.2d 39, 49 (Ct. App. 2015). Evidence that is unfairly prejudicial is evidence that suggests a decision on an improper basis. State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)).

Probative value is “the measure of the importance of that tendency to prove or disprove the outcome of a case; it is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues.” State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 386, 399, 803 S.E.2d 44 (Ct. App. 2017).

Low probative value alone does not exclude evidence; the probative value must be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Rule 403, SCRE. Unfair prejudice refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 529, 732 S.E.2d 225 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690 (2009)).

A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. “We ... are obligated to give great deference to the trial court’s judgment.” State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. at 357, 543 S.E.2d at 593(2001)). Because the trial court did not abuse its discretion, the ruling should not be reversed.

Here, the image provides probative value in that it again corroborates evidence establishing Appellant's clothing on the night of the incident and shows Appellant and Hickson together, while the two appear to be in possession of firearms. (Tr. p. 168). Cf. Tucker v. State, 912 S.E.2d 639, 649 (Ga. 2025) (affirming the admittance of a photograph of defendant with a firearm because "the State presented evidence that the guns depicted in the photographs and videos of Tucker were similar to the one used in the shooting.").

Even if the photograph does not contain high probative value, the court's decision should not be reversed unless the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. With respect to the firearms shown in the photograph, unfair prejudice is not present because Appellant, by his own admission to police, owned and fired a weapon on the night of the incident. While members in the photograph appear to make signs, the State did not argue gang affiliation. Appellant has failed to establish that the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and that the trial court abused its discretion.

This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court properly denied Appellants motion for directed verdict because the State presented some evidence of Appellant's guilt.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict because the State produced some evidence that Appellant was guilty of the indicted offense. Specifically, the State presented evidence that Appellant told police he fired his weapon on the night of the incident and video evidence showed Appellant and Hickson arrive at the scene right before the shooting occurred.

Relevant Facts

At the conclusion of the State's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict. (Tr. p. 523). Appellant argued that no witness saw Appellant fire a gun and that the bullet which killed Victim was not fired from the gun found in Appellant's vehicle. (Tr. p. 523-4). The State argued that Appellant admitted to firing his weapon, that shell casings found matched the weapon, and that Appellant could be found guilty under hand of one hand of all. (Tr. p. 525). The court found that the State presented some evidence in the form of gunshot residue found on Appellant's clothing, and that the weapon found in Appellant's vehicle was fired eighteen times at the scene. (Tr. p. 526).

Discussion

One can be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability under an indictment charging him as a principal, as long as there is some evidence that the defendant and codefendant were acting pursuant to a plan to commit a crime at the time the crime occurred. State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 355 S.E.2d 270 (1987); State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 534 S.E.2d 268 (2000) (where Defendant told police he shot Victim, then at trial said Codefendant did it).

Under the "hand of one" theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of

the common design and purpose. State v. Reid, 408 S.C. 461, 758 S.E.2d 904 (2014) “One combining and confederating with others to accomplish an illegal purpose is criminally liable for everything done by either him or his confederates which follows incidentally in the execution of a common design as one of the probable and natural consequences, though not intended as a part of the original design or common plan.” State v. McCall, 304 S.C. 465, 405 S.E.2d 414 (Ct. App. 1991), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999).

Under our system of justice, the judge and jury have distinct roles when a jury trial is conducted in a criminal case. Shannon v. United States, 512 U.S. 573, 579 (1994). The judge is tasked with administering the proceedings, instructing the jury on the applicable law, and ensuring all sides receive a fair trial. See State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (explaining a trial judge has a duty to instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case); State v. Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 39, 615 S.E.2d 455, 463 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A judge has a responsibility for safeguarding both the rights of the accused and the rights of the public in the administration of criminal justice.”). Meanwhile, the jury alone has the task of finding the facts, weighing the evidence, choosing what inferences should be drawn from it, and ultimately deciding whether the State has met its burden of proving the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 514 (1995) (“[T]he jury’s constitutional responsibility is not merely to determine the facts, but to apply the law to those facts and draw the ultimate conclusion of guilt or innocence.”).

“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned only with the existence of evidence, not its weight. A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to

the State. If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, this Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292-293, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006) (citing State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 591-592, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477-478 (2004)). By doing so under such circumstances, the trial judge correctly avoids improperly encroaching upon the jury’s exclusive role to find the facts, weigh the evidence, evaluate witness credibility, and resolve any evidentiary conflicts that may have arisen during trial. See Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (“[The directed verdict] standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.”).

On an appeal from the trial court’s denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court may only reverse the trial court if there is no evidence to support the trial court’s ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002).

The United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, **and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.**

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (emphasis added). “When evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.” State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968). When it comes to testimony appellate courts consider only the existence or non-existence of evidence, not witness

credibility, in reviewing the denial of a directed verdict. State v. Cherry, 348 S.C. 281, 559 S.E.2d 297 (Ct. App. 2001) (affirmed in result 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475).

In order to show the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties. State v. Harry, 420 S.C. 290, 803 S.E.2d 272 (2017).

In Harry, our Supreme Court found defendant was guilty of murder under the hand of one is the hand of all theory of accomplice liability was a question for the jury. Harry, 420 S.C. 290, 803 S.E.2d 272 (2017). In the murder prosecution, the State did not present any direct evidence that defendant acted in concert with alleged accomplice who admitted to shooting the victim. Id. Even so, the evidence yielded a reasonable series of inferences consistent with the State's theory, that defendant devised a plan to retrieve, by force if necessary, his television from victim, a known drug dealer whom defendant and his accomplices knew was armed before exiting their vehicles. Id. Accordingly, the Harry Court found the State presented sufficient evidence that defendant was engaged in a scheme to commit an illegal act, the result of which was victim's shooting death. Id.

Here, the State presented some evidence of Appellant's guilt. First, Appellant is seen in the photograph with Hickson, appearing to be in the possession of a firearm, mere hours before the shooting. Additionally, video evidence shows the two Tahoes pulling up together to the parking lot immediately before the shooting occurred and leaving immediately after the shooting. Importantly, by Appellant's own admission, he brought and fired a weapon at the scene of the incident. Evidence indicated that Appellant fired twenty shots in the parking lot. Accordingly, the

State satisfied its burden in producing some evidence that Appellant acted with Hickson by introducing evidence showing he was at the scene and participated in the shooting.

III. The trial court properly instructed the jury because the instruction was a correct statement of law.

The court properly instructed the jury as to hand of one hand of all because the court correctly explained that the jury should find Appellant guilty if the State proved Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, the court instructed the jury to consider the law as it was charged by the court. In determining whether the instruction was valid this Court should consider the prior charge as a whole and consider whether that instruction was proper.

Relevant Facts

The court instructed the jury on accomplice liability before deliberation. (Tr. p. 619-21). As part of its instruction, the court told the jury "A person who joins with another to commit an unlawful act is criminally responsible for everything done by the other person which happens as a probable or natural consequence of the acts done in carrying out a common plan or purpose." (Tr. p. 619). It also instructed the jury that the "State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt by competent evidence the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all." (Tr. p. 620).

After deliberating for around ninety minutes the jury asked the court if hand of one hand of all law must be followed. (Tr. p. 631). Appellant requested the court instruct the jury "yes, if the state proves it beyond a reasonable doubt." (Tr. p. 632). The State requested the court instruct the jury that it follow the law presented in the court's instruction. (Tr. p. 632). The court ultimately instructed the jury "you must follow the law as it was charged to you by the court." (Tr. p. 632).

Discussion

The purpose of a trial judge's jury instructions should be to enlighten the jury and aid it in arriving at a correct verdict. State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 498, 787 S.E.2d 480, 482 (2016). The evidence in a case determines the law which must be charged and every charge of the law must

be reviewed in the light of the evidence. State v. Gates, 269 S.C. 557, 561, 238 S.E.2d 680, 681 (1977). A trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction that is supported by the evidence and correctly states the law applicable to the issues. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 405, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007). Courts maintain discretion so long as the charge is accurate and clearly presented. See Am. Future Sys., Inc. v. BBB, 872 A.2d 1202 (2005); Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000) (“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.”). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 354 S.E.2d 565 (1987).

If several people, in pursuit of a common design to commit an unlawful act, set out together, and each takes the part assigned to or agreed upon by him, if the unlawful act is committed, the act of one is the act of all and all are guilty. State v. Chavis, 277 S.C. 521, 290 S.E.2d 412 (1982). The trial judge does not need to specify that a crime committed by an accomplice must be a “natural and probable consequence” of actions taken in pursuit of the accomplices’ common plan when giving “hand of one” charge. State v. Curry, 370 S.C. 674, 636 S.C. 649 (Ct. App. 2006).

Here, the court properly instructed the jury concerning accomplice liability at the conclusion of trial. When examining the instruction given, the earlier charge and particular circumstances of this case should be considered. Lawson v. State, 402 S.E.2d 344, 345 (Ga. Ct. App. 1991). Instructing the jury to consider the earlier charge is appropriate in this matter because the court adequately instructed the jury in the first instance. In fact, the court’s

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